
 
 

SPECIAL MEETING  
OF THE  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

August 18, 2016 at 8:30 a.m. 
Via Conference Call 

Snoqualmie Conference Room 
600 Andover Park West 

Tukwila, WA 98188 
 

A G E N D A 
I. Call to Order  

II. Roll Call  

III. Approval of Minutes  
Board Meeting Minutes – July 25, 2016  

  
       1 

IV. Approval of Agenda   

V. Resolutions for Discussion & Possible Action 
 

A. Resolution No. 5545: A Resolution authorizing the Authority to obtain 
financing for energy efficiency improvements at properties owned by the 
Authority; authorizing the execution of related documents; and determining 
related matters 
 

B. Resolution No. 5546: A Resolution relating to the Authority’s revolving 
Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2015 (Tax-Exempt) and revolving Line of Credit 
Revenue Note, 2015 (Taxable), issued pursuant to Resolution No. 5504; 
authorizing an increase in combined principal amount, to not to exceed 
$80,000,000 at any one time outstanding; authorizing the execution of 
related documents; and determining related matters 

 
          
       2 
 
 
 
       3 

VI. Executive Director’s Report       

VII. KCHA in the News   4     

VIII. Commissioner Comments 

IX. Adjournment 

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or 
assistance at the meeting are requested to notify the Board Coordinator, Jessica 
Olives, in writing at 600 Andover Park West, Seattle, WA 98188 or by calling 206-
574-1194 prior to the meeting date. 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
1 



 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 

SPECIAL BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
KING COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 
Monday, July 25, 2016 

 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

The Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the King County Housing 
Authority was held on Monday, July 25, 2016 at the Nia Apartments 
(Greenbridge), 9935 8th Avenue SW, Seattle, WA 98106. There being a quorum, 
the meeting was called to order by Chair Doug Barnes at 8:31 a.m.  

 
II. ROLL CALL  
 
 Present: Commissioner Doug Barnes (Chair), Commissioner Michael Brown 

(Vice-Chair), Commissioner TerryLynn Stewart, Commissioner 
Susan Palmer (via telephone)  

 
 Excused: Commissioner John Welch  
 
 Staff:  Stephen Norman (Secretary), Mark Abernathy, Craig Bartlett, 

Andrew Calkins, Connie Davis, John Eliason, Dan Landes, Trinh 
Nguyen, Beth Pearson, Mike Reilly, Jessica Olives, Jennifer 
Ramirez-Robson,  Craig Violante, Tim Walter, and Dan Watson 

 
 Guests: Susan Stead, Insurance Broker (Parker, Smith & Feek) 
 
 Welcome 

Asset Manager, Aaron Williams welcomed board members, staff and guests to the 
Nia Apartments facility. Mr. Williams provided a brief overview and background 
on the property pertaining to the development, maintenance and residents. 

 
III. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
 None. 

 
IV.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
On motion by Commissioner Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Brown, the 
Board approved the minutes from the Board of Commissioners’ meeting of June 
20, 2016.  

 
V. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

On motion by Commissioner Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Brown, the 
Board approved the July 25, 2016 Board of Commissioners’ meeting agenda. 
 
 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
July 25, 2016 Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 2 of 6 
 

 
VI. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Voucher Certification Report for May 2016 (General and Bond Properties) 
 
May 2016 

GENERAL PROPERTIES 
    Bank Wires / ACH Withdrawals 

 
2,435,846.31  

 
Subtotal 2,435,846.31 

    Accounts Payable Vouchers 
               Key Bank Checks #302808-#303357 
 

3,485,847.66 
Tenant Accounting Checks #10115- #10138  5,587.46 
Commerce Bank Direct Payment  114,539.54 

 
Subtotal 3,605,974.66 

    Payroll Vouchers 
              Checks - #90113 – #90140   27,524.82 

            Direct Deposit   1,263,827.58 

 
Subtotal 1,291,352.40 

    Section 8 Program Vouchers 
            Checks - #613829-#614127 
 

210,307.26 
          ACH  - #348131-#351088 

 
10,147,217.46 

 
Subtotal 10,357,524.72 

       Purchase Card / ACH Withdrawal 
 

214,546.74 

 
Subtotal 214,546.74 

   

 

GRAND 
TOTAL 17,905,244.83 

 
 

BOND PROPERTIES 
Bond Properties Total (30 different properties) 7,959,991.29 

 
B. Resolution No. 5540: A Resolution of the Housing Authority of the County of 

King authorizing the transfer of the Arbor Heights Apartments project from 
KCHA-Cones LP (the Company) to the Housing Authority, including, but not 
limited to the acquisition of the investor member interest in the Company’s 
obligations, subsequent dissolution of the Company and all related matters, 
 
 and; 
 
Resolution No. 5541: A Resolution of the Housing Authority of the County of 
King authorizing the transfer of the Southwood Square Apartments project 
from KCHA-Southwood Square LP (the Company) to the Housing Authority, 
including, but not limited to the acquisition of the investor member interest in 
the Company’s obligations, subsequent dissolution of the Company and all 
related matters 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
July 25, 2016 Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 3 of 6 
 

On motion by Commissioner Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Brown, the 
Board approved the consent agenda. 
 

VII.  Executive Session (RCW 42.30.110(b) - purchase of real estate) 
  

Chair Barnes called for an Executive Session at 8:46 a.m., as authorized by RCW 
42.30.110(b) to consider the selection of a site or the acquisition of real estate by 
lease or purchase when public knowledge regarding such consideration would 
cause a likelihood of increased price. 
 
The meeting of the Board of Commissioners resumed at 9:05 a.m. 
 

VIII.  RESOLUTIONS FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 
A. Resolution No. 5542: A Resolution authorizing the acquisition for the 

Highland Village Apartments 
 
Chair Barnes stated that the approval of Resolution No. 5542 is in 
alignment with the Boards’ goals to preserve and expand affordable 
housing availability in high opportunity neighborhoods and is a potential 
Transit Oriented Development.  

Commissioner Palmer responded in favor of approval and indicated that 
preserving the Highland Village Apartments housing resource outweighs 
the risks. Commissioner Stewart concurred.  

Chair Barnes asked that the evaluation percentage of 105% be added to 
Section 2 of Resolution No. 5542 to read as follows: 

Section 2: The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the Executive 
Director to acquire the Property by condemnation through exercise of the 
Housing Authority’s power of eminent domain, if it is unsuccessful in 
acquiring the Property on satisfactory terms through negotiation with and 
purchase from the owner in lieu of condemnation for a price which shall 
not exceed 105% of an independent third party valuation of the Property. 
The Executive Director is hereby further vested with the authority, and with 
discretion in the exercise thereof, to five notice to both the current owner of 
the Property and the holder of the contractual right to purchase the 
Property, of the Housing Authority’s intention to acquire the Property by 
eminent domain if it is unsuccessful in acquiring the Property on 
satisfactory terms through negotiation and purchase in lieu of 
condemnation. 

On motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Stewart, 
and abstention by Chair Barnes, the Board approved Resolution No. 5542. 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
July 25, 2016 Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 4 of 6 
 

B. Resolution No. 5543: A Resolution providing for the issuance of revenue 
bonds of the Authority in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed 
$7,000,000, the proceeds of which will be used to make a loan to 
Corinthian TOD LLLP, a Washington limited liability limited partnership of 
which the Authority is the sole general partner; and determining related 
matters 
 
Tim Walter, Senior Director of Acquisition and Asset Management 
presented Resolution No. 5543. Mr. Walter explained that in May 2016 the 
credit enhancement application to King County for a loan guarantee for the 
permanent finance of the Corinthian Apartments in SeaTac has been 
approved. Mr. Walter stated that approval of this Resolution would allow 
for the issuance of $7,000,000 in tax-exempt bonds to provide permanent 
financing for a majority of the acquisition financing.  
 
On motion by Commissioner Brown, seconded by Commissioner Stewart, 
the Board unanimously approved Resolution No. 5543. 

C. Resolution No. 5544: A Resolution authorizing the acquisition of the Abbey 
Ridge Apartments 
 
Mr. Walter also presented Resolution No. 5544 and mentioned that Board 
approval would authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and enter into 
a purchase agreement for the Abbey Ridge Apartments. Mr. Walter 
provided background information on the property and stated that staff has 
identified Abbey Ridge as a potential Transit Oriented Development 
acquisition opportunity. The property is located .4 miles from the Angle 
Lake light rail station in SeaTac.  
 
Mr. Walter further explained that the property was not for sale on the open 
market, but KCHA identified and reached out to the property owner. Mr. 
Walter stated that staff has entered into direct negotiations to purchase the 
property.  

In response to Chair Barnes’ question, Mr. Walter explained that the initial 
process for funding the transaction would be similar to the Highland 
Village Apartments and staff would attempt to secure Transit Oriented 
Development (TOD) funding.  

Chair Barnes asked staff to clarify if there would be a funding issue since 
the Housing Authority is looking to conduct multiple projects requesting 
TOD funds.  

Executive Director, Stephen Norman, explained the proposed permanent 
financing as it pertains to King County’s hospitality tax revenue and 
funding availability for TOD housing.  

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
July 25, 2016 Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 5 of 6 
 

Chair Barnes disclosed that although it has been at least 10 years since he 
has had any contractual relationships with the current owner of the 
property (Goodman Real Estate), there is no financial gain or other conflict 
of interest that would require him to abstain from voting. 

On motion by Commissioner Stewart, seconded by Commissioner Brown, 
the Board unanimously approved Resolution No. 5544. 

IX. BRIEFINGS & REPORT 
 
A. Risk Management & Insurance Programs Update 

Mark Abernathy, Risk Manager introduced his team members, Trinh 
Nguygen and Craig Bartlett along with Susan Stead, Insurance Broker from 
Parker Smith & Feek. Mr. Abernathy presented KCHA’s 2016 Risk and 
Insurance Program annual review. Mr. Abernathy outlined KCHA’s Risk 
Mitigation strategies, completed projects, future initiatives and history of 
claims as well as insurance costs.  
 

B. Second Quarter 2016 Procurement Report 
Connie Davis, Deputy Executive Director, presented the procurement 
activities for the Second Quarter in Calendar Year 2016 and discussed the 
most notable activity. Ms. Davis reminded the Board that the report 
represents the activity involved in the award of contracts over the amount 
of $100,000 and change orders that cumulatively exceed 10% of the 
original contract amount. 
 

C. Budget Forecast CY 2016 
Craig Violante, Director of Finance presented the Midyear financial forecast 
for KCHA and provided an overview of changes to the Authority’s adopted 
FY 2016 budget. 
 

D. Second Quarter 2016 Summary Write-offs 
Craig Violante also provided an update on the Summary Write-offs for the 
second quarter of FY 2016.  
 

X. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT  
 
Stephen Norman provided a briefing on the status of current home sales at 
Greenbridge and Seola Gardens, as a follow up to the Chairs’ previous request. 

 
XI.  KCHA IN THE NEWS 
  

None. 
 

XII. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
  

None. 

 



KCHA Board of Commissioners’ 
July 25, 2016 Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 6 of 6 
 
XIII.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

On motion by Commissioner Stewart, seconded by Commissioner Brown, the 
Board adjourned the meeting at 10:13 a.m. 

 
 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE  
COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON 

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
DOUGLAS BARNES, Chair  

Board of Commissioners 
 

________________________  
    STEPHEN J. NORMAN 
    Secretary 

 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
2 



 
 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Connie Davis, Deputy Executive Director  
 
Date: August 15, 2016 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5545: Authorizing the Authority to obtain 

financing for energy efficiency improvements at properties 
owned by the Authority; authorizing the execution of related 
documents; and determining related matters 

 
Executive Summary 
Resolution No. 5545 authorizes the issuance by KCHA of up to $10.5 million in Qualified 
Energy Conservation Bonds (QECBs) to provide permanent financing for approximately 45% 
of the cost of the Authority’s Energy Performance Contract (EPC). The total EPC project cost 
is estimated at $23 million, and the remaining permanent financing will be provided by 
KCHA through its Moving to Work or local, non-federal funds.   
 
Background 
In December 2015 the Commissioners authorized KCHA to have the Washington State 
Department of Enterprise Services’ execute, on KCHA’s behalf, an EPC with Johnson 
Controls (JCI) and to begin arranging project financing, with financing terms to be approved 
by the Board. EPC execution occurred in January 26, 2016.  
 
At the July Board meeting, Commissioners were informed that final vendor selection and 
project pricing have been continuing over the spring and summer. Installation of energy 
performance measures has begun at two properties, using interim financing from KCHA 
which will be paid off by the permanent financing. 
 
QECBs are a form of bond financing used by state and local governments to finance qualified 
energy efficiency projects.  The loan payments on these bonds bear interest at a taxable 
market rate but the Internal Revenue Service offers a direct cash subsidy to the bond issuer 
(KCHA) to reduce the interest cost.  This subsidy is correlated with Treasury yields and is 
calculated as 70% of the qualified tax credit rate (quoted daily).  The subsidy is further 
reduced by the effects of sequestration, currently at 7% for this program.  As a rule of thumb, 
each percentage increase in sequestration decreases the subsidy by approximately .025%. 
Thus even major sequestration impacts have only nominal effects on the net costs of the 
QECBs.  Recently this subsidy has ranged between 2.5 and 3%. 
 
JCI has worked with KCHA to complete a financing RFP for this project and identified a 
potential investor, through Stifel Nicolaus, who would purchase the full amount of the 
QECBs. The investor, Hannon Armstrong, is prepared to buy the QECBs at an indicative 
market rate of 4.25% over the 20 year project term.  Under current Treasury rates and 
sequestration rates, KCHA will receive a 2.62% direct subsidy payment, resulting in a net 



Resolution No. 5545 QECB 
August 18, 2015 Special Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 2 
 

effective rate of 1.63% which is an excellent 20-year rate.  The bonds would be secured by a 
lease purchase agreement and a general revenue pledge from KCHA. 
 
KCHA’s quoted gross rate from the investor of 4.25% is fixed at the date of the agreement, 
and is currently locked until September 2. Fluctuating interest rates upon which the IRS 
subsidy is calculated are a risk of the QECB structure.  Depending on annual sequestration, 
KCHA’s net interest rate paid on these bonds will vary over the 20 year term.  This risk is 
considered acceptable based on the limited impact sequestration would have on the subsidy 
rates as mentioned above. 
 
Staff Recommendation 
If approved by the Board, KCHA will issue the bonds within the next 30-45 days.  The funds 
will be fully advanced to KCHA who will relend the proceeds into the project at a fixed rate of 
5%.  KCHA also intends to lend the project approximately $12.5 million in MTW excess block 
grant working capital or local non-federal funds at the same 5% rate in order to cover the 
total estimated project cost.  The Board will be asked to approve this internal loan to the EPC 
prior to the end of calendar year 2016.The loaned proceeds will pay for installation and 
related costs of the energy performance measures.  Repayment of the internal non-QECB 
loan from project savings will have first priority over the initial term of the EPC.  Because 
HUD requires an EPC to have debt throughout the life of the project, the QECBs will be 
repaid in full over the remaining years of the 20 year project term. 
 
As of the date of the Board book mailing, attorneys for both sides continued to refine the form 
of Resolution No. 5545. It will be finalized and provided at the Board meeting, including a 
black line indicating changes from the provided draft. 
 
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 5545. 



Draft 8/16/2016 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

RESOLUTION NO. 5545 

 (Energy Efficiency Improvements Financing) 

 

A RESOLUTION authorizing the Authority to obtain financing for energy 
efficiency improvements at properties owned by the Authority; authorizing the 
execution of related documents; and determining related matters. 

 

ADOPTED August 18, 2016 

 

This document was prepared by: 
 

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 

Seattle, Washington 98101 
(206) 447-4400 

 
 
 
 
 
 
51544428.2 



 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

RESOLUTION NO. 5545 

A RESOLUTION authorizing the Authority to obtain financing for energy 
efficiency improvements at properties owned by the Authority; authorizing the 
execution of related documents; and determining related matters. 

 

WHEREAS, the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) seeks to 

encourage the provision of housing for low-income persons residing in King County, 

Washington (the “County”); and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.070(2) provides that a housing authority may acquire and 

operate housing projects; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020 defines “housing project” to include, among other things, 

“any work or undertaking . . . to provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, 

apartments, mobile home parks or other living accommodations for persons of low income”; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 38.82.070(5) provides that a housing authority may “purchase, lease, 

obtain options upon, acquire by gift, grant, bequest, devise, or otherwise . . . any real or personal 

property or any interest therein”; and 

 WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.020(11) and 35.82.130 together provide that a housing 

authority may issue bonds, notes or other obligations for any of its corporate purposes; and 

 WHEREAS, under Section 54A and 54D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended (the “Code”), enacted by the Energy Improvement and Extension Act of 2008 and the 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (together “ARRA”), the federal government 

authorized a tax credit program under which state and local governments may issue taxable 

Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds for the purpose of “implementing green community 

programs (including the use of loans, grants, or other repayment mechanisms to implement such 

programs);” and 

1 
51544428.2 



 

 WHEREAS, the County has adopted its Green Communities Initiative, offering access to 

Qualified Energy Conservation Bond financing for projects that meet established criteria and 

provide energy and other environmental benefits in the County; and 

 WHEREAS, by its letter dated March 10, 2016, the Washington State Housing Finance 

Commission (the “Commission”) allocated up to $10,464,528.95 of State of Washington Volume 

Cap for Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds to the Authority, to allow the Authority to 

implement energy conservation measures for various properties owned by the Authority as part 

of the Green Community Initiative administered by the County; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Authority deems it necessary and 

advisable and in the best interest of the Authority to enter into a lease-purchase agreement, in a 

principal amount not to exceed $10,464,528.95, to provide for the acquisition and installation of 

energy conservation measures on properties owned by the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority will designate the lease-purchase financing as a “Qualified 

Energy Conservation Bond” for qualified conservation purposes, and elect to apply the 

provisions of 6341(f) of the Code to such financing, with the intent of receiving federal subsidy 

payments relating thereto; and  

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the energy conservation measures will be provided by 

Johnson Controls, Inc. (the “Contractor”) and that Hannon Armstrong (the “Lessor”) will offer to 

finance the energy conservation measures pursuant to a lease-purchase agreement (the “Lease-

Purchase Agreement”) to be entered into between the Authority and the Lessor under the terms 

and conditions set forth in this resolution; and 

WHEREAS, RCW 35.82.040 provides that a housing authority may delegate to one or 

more of its agents or employees such powers or duties as it may deem proper; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the 

Housing Authority of the County of King as follows: 

2 
51544428.2 



 

Section 1. Definitions.  As used in this resolution, the following words have the 

following meanings: 

“Authority” means the Housing Authority of the County of King, a public body 

corporate and politic duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

Washington. 

“Authorized Officer” means the Chair of the Board, Executive Director of the 

Authority, or any Deputy Executive Director of the Authority. 

“Board” means the Board of Commissioners of the Authority. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Contractor” means Johnson Controls, Inc., and its successors and assigns.   

“Commission” means the Washington State Housing Finance Commission.   

“County” means King County, Washington.  

“General Revenues” means all revenues of the Authority from any source, but 

only to the extent that those revenues are available to amounts due under the Lease-Purchase 

Agreement and are not now or hereafter pledged, by law, regulation, contract, covenant, 

resolution, deed of trust or otherwise (including restrictions relating to funds made available to 

the Authority under the U.S. Housing Act of 1937), solely to another particular purpose. 

“Lease Fund” means the Authority’s Energy Efficiency Improvements Lease-

Purchase Financing Fund, 2016 created by Section 4 of this resolution for the purpose of paying the 

amounts due from the Authority under the Lease-Purchase Agreement.   

“Lease-Purchase Agreement” means the lease-purchase agreement to be entered 

into by and between the Lessor and the Authority.   

“Lessor” means Hannon Armstrong, and its successors and assigns.   

3 
51544428.2 



 

“Project” means, depending on the context, (1) the acquisition and installation of 

energy conservation measures on Authority property, or (2) such energy conservation measures.  

Section 2. Authorization of Lease-Purchase Agreement and Application of Proceeds.  

The Authority shall enter into the Lease-Purchase Agreement in order to finance the Project in a 

principal amount not to exceed $10,464,528.95.  Such financing is declared and determined to 

be important for the feasibility of the Project.  The Board finds that it is in the best interest of 

the Authority to enter into the Lease-Purchase Agreement for the purposes set forth in this 

resolution. 

Section 3. Authorization of Lease-Purchase Agreement and Related Documents and 

Execution Thereof. The Board authorizes the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting 

alone, to negotiate and approve the Lease-Purchase Agreement and such other documents, 

instruments and agreements as may be necessary or desirable in connection with the Lease-

Purchase Agreement or the Project.  The Authority authorizes and approves the execution and 

delivery of, and the performance by the Authority of its obligations contained in, the Lease-

Purchase Agreement and this resolution and the consummation by the Authority of all other 

transactions contemplated by this resolution in connection with the Lease-Purchase Agreement.  

The Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, are authorized and directed to do 

everything necessary for the Project and the lease-purchase financing contemplated by this 

resolution, and to execute and deliver, on behalf of the Authority, Lease-Purchase Agreement 

and any other documents that may be useful or necessary in connection with the Project and the 

lease-purchase financing contemplated by this resolution.  The execution of any instrument by 

an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence such instrument has been duly approved by 

such Authorized Officer.   

4 
51544428.2 



 

Section 4. Security for the Authority’s Obligations Under the Lease-Purchase 

Agreement.  The Lease Fund is hereby established as a special fund of the Authority and is to be 

known as the Energy Efficiency Improvements Lease-Purchase Financing Fund, 2016.  The Lease 

Fund is to be drawn upon for the sole purpose of paying the amounts due from the Authority 

under the Lease-Purchase Agreement.  The Authority irrevocably obligates and binds itself to set 

aside and pay into the Lease Fund from General Revenues money sufficient in amount to pay 

payments due from the Authority under the Lease-Purchase Agreement when due.   

The Lease-Purchase Agreement shall not be a debt of the County, the State or any 

political subdivision thereof, and the Lease-Purchase Agreement shall so state on its face.  

Neither the County, the State nor any political subdivision thereof (except the Authority, from 

the sources identified herein) shall be liable for payment of obligations under the Lease-

Purchase Agreement nor in any event shall payments due under the Lease-Purchase Agreement 

be payable out of any funds or assets other than those pledged to that purpose by the Authority.  

The Authority has no taxing power. 

 The Authority reserves without limitation the right to issue other obligations, the principal of 

and interest on which are to be paid from the General Revenues on a parity of lien with the Lease-

Purchase Agreement.  At its option, the Authority may pledge any revenues that comprise a portion 

of the General Revenues to the payment of other obligations, such payments to have priority over 

the payments to be made under the Lease-Purchase Agreement with respect to that portion of the 

General Revenues so pledged. 

 Neither the Authority nor any of the Commissioners, officers or employees of the 

Authority shall be personally liable for the payment of the Lease-Purchase Agreement. 

5 
51544428.2 



 

Section 5. Election to Treat the Lease-Purchase Financing as Taxable Qualified 

Energy Conservation Bond – Direct Payment.  The Authority hereby irrevocably elects to have 

Section 6431(f)(3) of the Code apply to the lease-purchase financing described herein so that 

such financing is treated as a “specified tax credit bond” that is a “qualified bond” with respect 

to which the Authority will be eligible to receive federal subsidy payments in an amount equal 

to the lesser of (i) the amount of interest payable under the Lease-Purchase Agreement on each 

interest payment date or (ii) 70% of the amount of interest that would have been payable under 

the Lease-Purchase Agreement on each interest payment date if such interest were determined 

at a rate equal to the tax credit rate determined under Section 54A(b)(3) of the Code. 

Section 6. Project Part of County’s Green Community Initiative and Commission’s 

Green Community Program.  The Project has been approved as meeting the standards 

developed as part of the Green Community Initiative administered by the County, and will be 

used to implement the Commission’s Green Community Program.   

Section 7. Ratification and Confirmation.  Any actions of the Authority or its officers 

prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and 

confirmed. 

Section 8. Changes to Titles or Parties.  While the titles of and parties to the various 

documents described herein may change, no change to such titles or parties shall affect the 

authority conferred by this resolution to execute, deliver, file (if required), enforce and perform 

the documents in their final form.   

6 
51544428.2 



 

Section 9. Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its adoption and approval. 

 ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the County of 

King at an open public meeting thereof this18th day of August, 2016. 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF 
KING 
 
 
By: 

Douglas J. Barnes, Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Stephen J. Norman, Secretary 
 

7 
51544428.2 



 

CERTIFICATE 

I, the undersigned, the duly chosen, qualified and acting Secretary and Executive Director 
of the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) and keeper of the records of 
the Authority, CERTIFY: 

 1. That the attached copy of Resolution No. ____ (the “Resolution”) is a full, 
true and correct copy of the resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Authority, as 
adopted at a meeting of the Authority held on August ___, 2016, and duly recorded in the minute 
books of the Authority; 

 2. That written notice specifying the time and place of the special meeting 
and noting the business to be transacted was given to all members of the Board of 
Commissioners by mail, fax, electronic mail or personal delivery at least 24 hours prior to the 
special meeting, a true and complete copy of which notice is attached hereto as Appendix I; 

 3. That the written notice described above was also posted on the Authority’s 
website and prominently displayed at the main entrance of the Authority’s administrative office 
at 600 Andover Park W., Tukwila, Washington  98188 and at the meeting site, if different, at 
least 24 hours prior to the special meeting; 

 4. That the written notice described above was given to each local radio or 
television station and to each newspaper of general circulation that has on file with the Authority 
a written request to be notified of special meetings and to any others to which such notices are 
customarily given by the Authority; and 

 5. That such meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 
law; that a quorum was present throughout the meeting and a majority of the members of the 
Board of Commissioners of the Authority present at the meeting voted in the proper manner for 
the adoption of the Resolution; that all other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper 
adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed, and that 
I am authorized to execute this Certificate. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___ day of August, 2016. 

 

Stephen Norman, Secretary and Executive Director 
of the Authority 

CERTIFICATE 
51544428.2 



 

APPENDIX I  

 

 

 

 

 

 
51544428.2 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
3 



 
 
T0:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From: Tim Walter, Senior Director of Development & Asset Management  
 
Date August 15, 2016 
 
Re:  Resolution No. 5546: Authorization for the Executive Director to 

increase and extend the existing Line of Credit with KeyBank for 
general development purposes 

 
Executive Summary 
Resolution No. 5546 authorizes the Executive Director to increase the Authority’s 
existing $50 million revolving general development line of credit (LOC) with 
KeyBank to $80 million and to extend the maturity of the facility.   

 
Background 
In April, 2015 the Board of Commissioners approved Resolution No. 5504 which 
authorized the issuance of a $50 million general development line of credit with 
KeyBank to provide interim acquisition, refinance and development financing for 
the Authority. Since April, 2015 KCHA has financed three properties (Corinthian 
Apartments, Villages at South Station and Woodcreek Lane), refinanced a seller 
note associated with Somerset Gardens and financed the assignment of the 
Highland Village purchase agreement with Intracorp. The current balance on the 
line of credit is $50 million. 
 
KeyBank has agreed to increase the existing line of credit from $50 million to $80 
million, in a combination of taxable and tax-exempt debt, on the same terms and 
conditions including the existing interest rate formulae and to extend the term of 
the existing facility for one year beyond its current maturity of June 30, 2017 to 
June 30, 2018.  The resolution further permits the Executive Director to annually 
renew the facility, as mutually agreed by the Bank and KCHA, through 2023.   
 
Staff Recommendation 
The increase in the line of credit will allow KCHA access to financing for the acquisition 
of the Highland Village and Abbey Ridge Apartments. The long-term financing 
strategies for both Abbey Ridge and Highland Village were described in their 
respective project profiles which were reviewed by the Board when the Board 
approved the acquisition of the two properties last month. 
 
The current indicative tax-exempt rate for the line of credit is 1.15%, which 
represents an excellent borrowing rate for the Authority; however, the line of credit 
is a variable rate credit facility and as such is subject to interest rate fluctuation.  



Resolution No. 5546 KeyBank LOC 
August 18, 2016 Special Board Meeting 
Page 2 of 2 
 

While rates have been low, there is the chance interest rates will rise which would 
result in an increase in the borrowing costs associated with the line of credit.  In the 
last five years, the one-month LIBOR rate, which is the basis for the variable rate 
interest rate formulae, has ranged between .22% and .51% (.51% is the current rate).  
For every 10 basis point increase in the one-month LIBOR rate (.10%), the increase 
in the interest rate on the line of credit is approximately .07%.  While an increase in 
short-term borrowing rates may be more likely than a decrease, even if the one-
month LIBOR rate were to triple from .51% to 1.53%, the tax-exempt rate on the line 
of credit would only increase from 1.15% to 1.80% which is still an exceptional 
borrowing rate for the Authority, and one that is supportable from the cash flow on 
these acquisitions. 
 
Passage of Resolution No. 5546 is recommended. 



 
 
 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 

RESOLUTION NO. 5546 

(Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Notes, 2015 (Tax-Exempt) and (Taxable)) 
 
 
  A RESOLUTION relating to the Authority’s Revolving Line of Credit 

Revenue Note, 2015 (Tax-Exempt) and Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 
2015 (Taxable), issued pursuant to Resolution No. 5504; authorizing an increase in 
combined principal amount to an amount not to exceed $80,000,000 at any one 
time outstanding and other modifications of the Notes; authorizing the execution 
of related documents; and determining related matters.  

 
 
 
 

ADOPTED August 18, 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This document was prepared by: 

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 

Seattle, Washington 98101 
(206) 447-4400 

 
51544524.2 



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 5546 

(Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Notes, 2015 (Tax-Exempt) and (Taxable)) 
 
 
  A RESOLUTION relating to the Authority’s Revolving Line of Credit 

Revenue Note, 2015 (Tax-Exempt) and Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 
2015 (Taxable), issued pursuant to Resolution No. 5504; authorizing an increase in 
combined principal amount to an amount not to exceed $80,000,000 at any one 
time outstanding and other modifications of the Notes; authorizing the execution 
of related documents; and determining related matters.  

 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 5504 (the “Note Resolution”), adopted on April 20, 

2015, by the Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) of the Housing Authority of the County of 

King (the “Authority”), the Authority issued and delivered to KeyBank National Association 

(the “Bank”) two revolving line of credit notes of the Authority (together, the “Notes”) known as 

Housing Authority of the County of King Revolving Line of Credit Revenue Note, 2015 (Tax-

Exempt) and the Housing Authority of the County of King Revolving Line of Credit Revenue 

Note, 2015 (Taxable) in a combined principal amount of not to exceed $50,000,000 at any one 

time outstanding, for the purpose of financing or refinancing costs of the acquisition, construction 

and/or rehabilitation of housing and related facilities; and 

 WHEREAS, the Bank has offered to increase the principal amount of the Notes to a 

combined amount not to exceed $80,000,000 at any one time outstanding; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the Authority has determined that it is in the 

best interest of the Authority to accept such offer and to authorize additional extensions and 

modifications of the Notes; NOW, THEREFORE,  

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING 

AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF KING as follows: 

51544524.2 



Section 1. Definitions.  All capitalized terms used but not defined in this resolution 

shall have the meanings set forth in Note Resolution. 

Section 2. Authorization for Modification of Notes and Extensions of the Notes.  The 

Executive Director of the Authority is authorized, without further action of the Board but with 

the consent and approval of the Bank, in the Bank’s sole discretion, to (A) modify the principal 

amount of the Notes to a combined amount of not to exceed $80,000,000 at any one time 

outstanding; (B) extend the then-current maturity date of the Notes to any date on or before 

December 31, 2023; (C) modify the interest rate or interest rate formulae applicable to Draws on 

the Notes; and (D) change the title of either or both Notes, if the Executive Director determines 

that such modification and/or extension is in the best interest of the Authority.  The Executive 

Director is authorized to do everything necessary in connection with such extensions of maturity 

and modifications of the Notes, including but not limited to the negotiation, execution and 

delivery of such documents and payment of Bank fees.  Execution of documents in connection 

with the modification or extension of the Notes as described herein by the Executive Director 

will constitute conclusive evidence of his or her approval of the extensions and/or modifications 

described therein and the approval of the Authority of such extensions and/or modifications. 

Section 3. Acting Officers Authorized.  Any action required by this resolution to be 

taken by the Executive Director of the Authority may in the absence of such person be taken by a 

Deputy Executive Director of the Authority. 

-2- 
51544524.2 



Section 4. Resolution No. 5504 in Full Force and Effect.  This resolution 

supplements the authorization contained in the Note Resolution.  Notwithstanding the adoption 

of this resolution, all of the provisions of the Note Resolution shall remain in full force and 

effect. 

Section 5. Ratification and Confirmation.  Any actions of the Authority or its officers 

prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and 

confirmed.   

Section 6. Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its adoption and approval. 

 ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the County of 

King at an open public meeting thereof this 18th day of August, 2016. 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF 
KING 
 
 
By:        
 Chair 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Executive Director 
 

-3- 
51544524.2 



CERTIFICATE 
 

I, the undersigned, the duly chosen, qualified and acting Secretary and Executive Director 
of the Housing Authority of the County of King (the “Authority”) and keeper of the records of 
the Authority, CERTIFY: 

 
 1. That the attached copy of Resolution No. 5546 (the “Resolution”) is a full, true and 
correct copy of the resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Authority, as adopted at a 
meeting of the Authority held on August 18, 2016, and duly recorded in the minute books of the 
Authority; 
 
 2. That written notice specifying the time and place of the special meeting and noting 
the business to be transacted was given to all members of the Board of Commissioners by mail, fax, 
electronic mail or personal delivery at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting, a true and 
complete copy of which notice is attached hereto as Appendix I; 
 
 3. That the written notice described above was also posted on the Authority’s website 
and prominently displayed at the main entrance of the Authority’s administrative office at 600 
Andover Park W., Tukwila, Washington  98188 and at the meeting site, if different, at least 24 
hours prior to the special meeting; 
 
 4. That the written notice described above was given to each local radio or television 
station and to each newspaper of general circulation that has on file with the Authority a written 
request to be notified of special meetings and to any others to which such notices are customarily 
given by the Authority; and 
 
 5. That such meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 
law; that a quorum was present throughout the meeting and a majority of the members of the 
Board of Commissioners of the Authority present at the meeting voted in the proper manner for 
the adoption of the Resolution; that all other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper 
adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed, and that 
I am authorized to execute this Certificate. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 18th day of August, 2016. 
 
 
 

Stephen Norman, Secretary and Executive Director 
of the Authority 

CERTIFICATE 

51544524.2 



 

APPENDIX I  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

51544524.2 



T 
A 
B 

 
N 
U 
M 
B 
E 
R 

 
4 



KCHA IN THE NEWS 






























	201608 KCHA Board Agenda
	Tab Number 1
	201607 KCHA Board Minutes
	Monday, July 25, 2016
	I.  CALL TO ORDER
	II. ROLL CALL
	THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE
	COUNTY OF KING, WASHINGTON


	Tab Number 2
	201608 Resolution No. 5545 QECB Approval Cover Memo
	201608 Resolution No. 5545 QECB
	Section 1 . Definitions.  As used in this resolution, the following words have the following meanings:
	Section 2 . Authorization of Lease-Purchase Agreement and Application of Proceeds.  The Authority shall enter into the Lease-Purchase Agreement in order to finance the Project in a principal amount not to exceed $10,464,528.95.  Such financing is decl...
	Section 3 . Authorization of Lease-Purchase Agreement and Related Documents and Execution Thereof. The Board authorizes the Authorized Officers, and each of them acting alone, to negotiate and approve the Lease-Purchase Agreement and such other docume...
	Section 4 . Security for the Authority’s Obligations Under the Lease-Purchase Agreement.  The Lease Fund is hereby established as a special fund of the Authority and is to be known as the Energy Efficiency Improvements Lease-Purchase Financing Fund, 2...
	The Lease-Purchase Agreement shall not be a debt of the County, the State or any political subdivision thereof, and the Lease-Purchase Agreement shall so state on its face.  Neither the County, the State nor any political subdivision thereof (except t...
	Section 5 . Election to Treat the Lease-Purchase Financing as Taxable Qualified Energy Conservation Bond – Direct Payment.  The Authority hereby irrevocably elects to have Section 6431(f)(3) of the Code apply to the lease-purchase financing described ...
	Section 6 . Project Part of County’s Green Community Initiative and Commission’s Green Community Program.  The Project has been approved as meeting the standards developed as part of the Green Community Initiative administered by the County, and will ...
	Section 7 . Ratification and Confirmation.  Any actions of the Authority or its officers prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and confirmed.
	Section 8 . Changes to Titles or Parties.  While the titles of and parties to the various documents described herein may change, no change to such titles or parties shall affect the authority conferred by this resolution to execute, deliver, file (if ...
	Section 9 . Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and approval.

	Tab Number 3
	201608 Resolution No. 5546 KeyBank Line of Credit $80MM LOC (Memo)
	201608 Resolution No. 5546 KeyBank Line of Credit $80MM LOC (Resolution).docx
	Section 1 . Definitions.  All capitalized terms used but not defined in this resolution shall have the meanings set forth in Note Resolution.
	Section 2 . Authorization for Modification of Notes and Extensions of the Notes.  The Executive Director of the Authority is authorized, without further action of the Board but with the consent and approval of the Bank, in the Bank’s sole discretion, ...
	Section 3 . Acting Officers Authorized.  Any action required by this resolution to be taken by the Executive Director of the Authority may in the absence of such person be taken by a Deputy Executive Director of the Authority.
	Section 4 . Resolution No. 5504 in Full Force and Effect.  This resolution supplements the authorization contained in the Note Resolution.  Notwithstanding the adoption of this resolution, all of the provisions of the Note Resolution shall remain in f...
	Section 5 . Ratification and Confirmation.  Any actions of the Authority or its officers prior to the date hereof and consistent with the terms of this resolution are ratified and confirmed.
	Section 6 . Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and approval.

	Tab Number 4
	KCHA IN THE NEWS
	August 2016

